## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOHN NOBLE,	)
Petitioner,	) )
vs.	)
STATE OF FLORIDA,	) )
Respondent.	)
	)

Case No. SC00-555

## PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

RICHARD L. JORANDBY Public Defender 15th Judicial Circuit of Florida

SUSAN D. CLINE Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 377856 Attorney for John Noble Criminal Justice Building 421 3rd Street, Sixth Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

##

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida, and the Appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Respondent was the prosecution and the Appellee below.

In the brief, the parties will be referred to as they appear before this Honorable Court. A copy of the instant decision is attached as the Appendix.

#### CERTIFICATION OF TYPE FACE

Petitioner certifies that the instant brief has been prepared with 12 point Courier New type, a font that is not spaced proportionately.

vii

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Petitioner, John Noble, was charged by information filed in the Nineteenth Judicial Circuit, in and for St. Lucie County, Florida, with attempted first-degree murder, which was alleged to have been committed on July 1, 1997 (R 1).

Pursuant to a written petition to enter a plea of nolo contendere (R 2-8), Petitioner appeared before the trial court on November 30, 1998. Pursuant to the negotiated plea with the state, Petitioner entered a plea of nolo contendere to the lesser offense of aggravated battery, a second-degree felony (R 3, 29; T 2, 4, 6-The negotiated plea agreement called for Petitioner to be 8). sentenced as a prison release reoffender to fifteen (15) years in the Department of Corrections, but that Petitioner was reserving the right to appeal the unconstitutionality of the reoffender statute (R 3; T 2-7). The court and the parties agreed that Petitioner would be sentenced pursuant to the Act to fifteen (15) years in the Department of Corrections for the second-degree felony, but that if the statute was found unconstitutional that his sentence would be reversed and remanded for sentencing within the quidelines (T 4-7). The court accepted the plea (T 9).

Petitioner proceeded to a sentencing hearing on December 30, 1998 (T 11-18). The state introduced State's Exhibit 1 to show that Petitioner qualified as a reoffender, having been last released from prison on November 24, 1996, and the defense stipulated to that, although noting that the defense reserved the right to challenge the constitutionality of the statute (T 11-12;

Defense counsel advised the court that the defense R 9-21). contention was that the statute was unconstitutional for a number of reasons, including, but not limited to, the following: it is violative of the single subject rule, the prohibition against cruel and unusual punishment, the separation of powers clause, the due process clause and the equal protection clause; and it gives the prosecutor discretion to choose whether or not to sentence a defendant as a reoffender which has the result, once the prosecution decides to proceed on that basis, of the prosecution becoming the sentencing judge as well (T 14-15). The court acknowledged that Petitioner had properly preserved his right to appeal the constitutionality of the statute (T 14, 16). The court stated that the date of the offense to which he entered the plea was July 1, 1997 and the documentation reflected that Petitioner was released from the Department of Corrections within three years of the date of the offense, which qualified him as a reoffender under Section 775.082 (T 16-17).

The court adjudicated Petitioner guilty of the offense to which he pled<sup>1</sup> and sentenced him as a reoffender to fifteen (15) years in the Department of Corrections with credit for 257 days time served. The court noted that Petitioner was reserving his right to appeal the constitutionality of the reoffender statute under which he was sentenced (T 17-18; R 23-24, 25-28). The

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Nevertheless, the judgment in the record on appeal erroneously reflects that Petitioner entered a plea of nolo contendere to Count I, attempted first-degree murder (R 23-24).

maximum guidelines sentence would have been 136 months incarceration (T 32).

Petitioner timely filed his Notice of Appeal to the Fourth District Court of Appeal (R 36). On appeal, he argued those issues previously raised in the trial court as well as contending that the statute amounted to an unconstitutional ex post facto law as applied to Petitioner who had been released from prison prior to the Act, but who committed the offense after its effective date. Petitioner also contended that the judgment needed to be corrected to reflect that he entered a nolo contendere plea to the offense of aggravated battery and not to attempted first-degree murder. The Fourth District Court rendered a per curium decision, rejecting all of the constitutional challenges but, as the First District Court of Appeal did in <u>Woods v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review accepted</u>, 740 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1999), certifying the following question as one of great public importance:

DOES THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT ACT, CODIFIED AS SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

The Fourth District also remanded for correction of the judgment to reflect that Petitioner entered a nolo contendere plea to aggravated battery. <u>Noble v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D374 (Feb. 9, 2000)(See Appendix).

Petitioner timely filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. This Court, in its order of March 17, 2000, postponed a decision on jurisdiction until consideration of

the merits briefs and set a briefing schedule. This Petitioner's Brief on the Merits follows.

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

**POINT I:** The Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act (the Act) authorizes the state attorney to apply statutory criteria in deciding when to seek mandatory sentencing for a person convicted of qualifying offenses. The criteria are vague and include some factors traditionally exercised by courts in sentencing, such as considering the wishes of the victim and the existence of extenuating circumstances. The Act, however, prevents the sentencing judge from imposing any sentence except the mandatory term if the state attorney has filed a notice to invoke the Act. The Act thus violates the Separation of Powers Clause of the Florida Constitution by empowering the state attorney to make decisions that encroach upon the inherent sentencing authority of the courts. The state attorney's executive branch function to select the charge or charges does not include the additional discretion to apply statutory sentencing criteria and thereby preclude the court from evaluating those same criteria.

**POINT II**: There is no legitimate state interest in treating convicted felons who serve felony sentences in county jails or outof-state correctional institutions and commit certain enumerated crimes within three years of the date of their release differently than felons imprisoned in Department of Corrections facilities who do the same. Any difference between a county jail or a Florida

state prison concerning the incarceration of convicted felons fails to rationally relate to a legitimate interest of any government. Consequently, the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act is unconstitutional as it violates the equal protection clauses of the federal and Florida Constitutions.

**<u>POINT III</u>**: The Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act is unconstitutional because it unlawfully restricts the right to plea bargain.

**POINT IV**: The Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act is unconstitutional as it violates the federal and Florida constitutional prohibitions against cruel and unusual punishment. **POINT V**: The Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act is unconstitutional as it violates the void for vagueness doctrine. **POINT VI**: The Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act is unconstitutional as it violates Petitioner's right to substantive due process of law.

#### ARGUMENT

## POINT I

# THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT ACT, SECTION 775.082(8), <u>FLORIDA STATUTES</u>, IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS IT VIOLATES THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE, ARTICLE II, SECTION 3 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

This point addresses the following question certified to this Court as one of great public importance by the Fourth District in <u>Noble v. State</u>, 25 Fla. L. Weekly D374 (Feb. 9, 2000)(<u>See</u> Appendix):

DOES THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER PUNISHMENT ACT, CODIFIED AS SECTION 775.082(8), FLORIDA STATUTES (1997), VIOLATE THE SEPARATION OF POWERS CLAUSE OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION?

This is the same question that this Court has accepted review of as certified by the First District Court of Appeal in <u>Woods v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d 20 (Fla. 1st DCA), <u>review accepted</u>, 740 So. 2d 529 (Fla. 1999).

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(4) of the <u>Florida Constitution</u>. Petitioner submits that this Court should accept jurisdiction to resolve this issue as: 1) the issue effects countless defendants; 2)the district courts have voiced concerns relating to the Act's language and the legislative intent; and 3) this Court has already accepted review of the same question. Once this Court has accepted jurisdiction, Petitioner also urges this Court to consider the additional grounds upon which he submits that the Act is unconstitutional, which are set forth in Points II through VI, infra.

б

Petitioner submits that the Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act, Section 775.082(8), <u>Florida Statutes</u> (1997), ("the Act"), is unconstitutional as it violates the Separation of Powers Clause, Article II, Section 3 of the <u>Florida Constitution</u>.

Article II, Section 3 of the <u>Florida Constitution</u> divides the powers of state government into legislative, executive and judicial branches and says that "No person belonging to one branch shall exercise any powers appertaining to either of the other branches unless expressly provided herein." The Prison Releasee Reoffender Punishment Act violates that provision because it delegates legislative authority to establish penalties for crimes and judicial authority to impose sentences to the state attorney as an official of the executive branch.

The Act, Section 775.082(8), includes the following relevant portions:

(a)1. "Prison releasee reoffender" means any defendant who commits, or attempts to commit: [specified or described violent felonies]

\* \* \*

within 3 years of being released from a state correctional facility operated by the Department of Corrections or a private vendor.

2. If the state attorney determines that a defendant is a prison release reoffender as defined in subparagraph 1., the state attorney may seek to have the court sentence the defendant as a prison release reoffender. Upon proof from the state attorney that establishes by a preponderance of the evidence that a defendant is a prison release reoffender as defined in this section, such defendant is not eligible for sentencing under the sentencing guidelines and must be sentenced as follows: a. For a felony punishable by life, by a term of imprisonment for life;b. For a felony of the first degree, by a term of imprisonment of 30 years;c. For a felony of the second degree, by a term of imprisonment of 15 years; andd. For a felony of the third degree, by a term of imprisonment of 5 years.

(b) A person sentenced under paragraph (a) shall be released only by expiration of sentence and shall not be eligible for parole, control release, or any form of early release. Any person sentenced under paragraph (a) must serve 100 percent of the court-imposed sentence.

(c) Noting in this subsection shall prevent a court from imposing a greater sentence of incarceration as authorized by law, pursuant to s. 775.084 or any other provision of law. (Emphasis supplied).

The following portion of the Act describes the criteria for

exempting persons from the otherwise mandatory sentence:

(d)1. It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders previously released from prison who meet the criteria in paragraph (a) be punished to the fullest extent of the law and as provided in this subsection, unless any of the following circumstances exist:

a. The prosecuting attorney does not have sufficient evidence to prove the highest charge available;

b. The testimony of a material witness cannot be obtained;

c. The victim does not want the offender to receive the mandatory prison sentence and provides a written statement to that effect; or

d. Other extenuating circumstances exist which preclude the just prosecution of the offender. (Emphasis supplied).<sup>2</sup>

It is the intent of the Legislature that offenders previously released from prison who meet the criteria in paragraph (a) be punished to the fullest extent of the law and as provided in this subsection, unless the state attorney determines that extenuating circumstances exist which preclude the just prosecution of the offender, including whether the victim recommends that the offender

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Recent amendments to the statute, Chapter 99-188, Section 2, <u>Laws of Florida</u>, effective July 1, 1999, omit subsections (a), (b), and (c) of subsection (8)(d)1 and read:

The state attorney has the discretion (may seek) to invoke the sentencing sanctions by evaluating subjective criteria; if so opted by the state attorney the court is required to (must) impose the maximum sentence. The rejection of statutory exceptions by the prosecutor divests the trial judge of any sentencing discretion. This unique delegation of discretion to the executive branch displacing the sentencing power inherently vested in the judicial branch conflicts with the doctrine of separation of powers because, when <u>sentencing</u> discretion is statutorily authorized, the judiciary must have at least a share of that discretion.

Since Florida's Constitution expressly limits persons belonging to one branch from exercising any powers of another

not be sentenced as provided in this subsection.

branch,<sup>3</sup> the question certified first requires an interpretation of what powers the Act allocates or denies to which branch.

The power at issue is choosing among sentencing options. The <u>Woods</u> court acknowledged that in Florida "the plenary power to prescribe the punishment for criminal offenses lies with the legislature, not the courts." <u>Woods v. State</u>, 740 So. 2d at 23. That analysis is accurate but incomplete, because the legislature's plenary power to <u>prescribe</u> punishment disables not only the courts, but the executive as well. Therein lies the flaw in the Act and the First District's interpretation of it.

To clarify the argument here, it is not that the legislature is prohibited from enacting a mandatory or minimum mandatory sentence. Rather the argument is that the legislature cannot delegate to the state attorney, through vague standards, the

\* \* \*

Regardless of the criticism of the court's application of the doctrine, we nevertheless conclude that it represents a recognition of the express limitation contained in the second sentence of Article II, Section 3 of our Constitution. Under the fundamental document adopted and several times ratified by the citizens of this State, the legislature is not free to redelegate to an administrative body so much of its lawmaking power as it may deem expedient. And that is at the crux of the issue before us.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> <u>See</u>, <u>Askew v. Cross Key Waterways</u>, 372 So. 2d 913, 924 (Fla. 1978):

It should be noted that Article II, Section 3, Florida Constitution, contrary to the Constitutions of the United States and the State of Washington, does by its second sentence contain an express limitation upon the exercise by a member of one branch of any powers appertaining to either of the other branches of government.

discretion to choose <u>both the charge and the penalty</u> and thereby prohibit the court from performing its inherent judicial function of imposing sentence.

Obviously, the legislature may lawfully enact mandatory sentences. <u>E.q.</u>, <u>O'Donnell v. State</u>, 326 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1975) (30year minimum mandatory sentence for kidnapping is constitutional); <u>Owens v. State</u>, 316 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1975) (upholding minimum mandatory 25-year sentence for capital felony); <u>State v. Sesler</u>, 386 So. 2d 293 (Fla. 2d DCA 1980) (legislature was authorized to enact three-year mandatory minimum for possession of firearm).

By the same token, there is no dispute that the state attorney enjoys virtually unlimited discretion to make charging decisions. <u>State v. Bloom</u>, 497 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 1986) (under Article II, Section 3 of Florida's Constitution, the decision to charge and prosecute is an executive responsibility; a court has no authority to hold pretrial that a capital case does not qualify for the death penalty); <u>Young v. State</u>, 699 So. 2d 624 (Fla. 1997) ("the decision to prosecute a defendant as an habitual offender is a prosecutorial function to be initiated at the prosecutor's discretion and not by the court."); <u>State v. Jogan</u>, 388 So. 2d 322 (Fla. 3d DCA 1980) (the decision to prosecute or nolle prosse pre-trial is vested solely in the state attorney).

The power to impose sentence belongs to the judicial branch. "[J]udges have traditionally had the discretion to impose any sentences within the maximum or minimum limits prescribed by the legislature." <u>Smith v. State</u>, 537 So. 2d 982, 985-986 (Fla. 1989).

Directly or by implication Florida courts have held that sentencing discretion within limits set by law is a judicial function that cannot be totally delegated to the executive branch.

In <u>State v. Benitez</u>, 395 So. 2d 514 (Fla. 1981), this Court reviewed Section 893.135, a drug trafficking statute providing severe mandatory minimum sentences but with an escape valve permitting the court to reduce or suspend a sentence if the state attorney initiated a request for leniency based on the defendant's cooperation with law enforcement. The defendants contended that the law "usurps the sentencing function from the judiciary and assigns it to the executive branch, since [its] benefits ... are triggered by the initiative of the state attorney." <u>Id.</u> at 519. Rejecting that argument and finding the statute did not encroach on judicial power, this Court held:

Under the statute, the ultimate decision on sentencing resides with the judge who must rule on the motion for reduction or suspension of sentence. So long as a statute does not wrest from courts the <u>final</u> discretion to impose sentence, it does not infringe upon the constitutional division of responsibilities. <u>People v.</u> <u>Eason</u>, 40 N.Y. 2d 297, 301, 386 N.Y.S. 2d 673, 676, 353 N.E. 2d 587, 589 (1976).

<u>Id.</u> (emphasis in original).

This Court assumed, therefore, that had the statute divested the court of the "final discretion" to impose sentence it would have violated the Separation of Powers Clause, an implicit recognition that sentencing is an inherent function of the courts.

This Court made an identical assumption when the habitual offender law, Section 775.084, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, was attacked on

separation of powers grounds in <u>Seabrook v. State</u>, 629 So. 2d 129, 130 (Fla. 1993), stating that

...a trial judge has the discretion not to sentence a defendant as a habitual felony offender. <u>Therefore</u>, petitioner's contention that the statute violated the doctrine of separation of powers because it deprived trial judges of such discretion necessarily fails.

(emphasis supplied).

The Third District Court took the same view regarding the mandatory sentencing provisions of the violent career criminal act, Section 775.084, <u>Florida Statutes</u>, holding that it did not violate separation of powers because the trial judge retained discretion to find that such sentencing was not necessary for protection of the public. <u>State v. Meyers</u>, 708 So. 2d 661 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998). In the same vein, the First District Court said in <u>London v. State</u>, 623 So. 2d 527, 528 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993), that "Although the state attorney may suggest that a defendant be classified as a habitual offender, only the judiciary decides whether to classify and sentence the defendant as a habitual offender."

The foundation for judicial, as opposed to executive, discretion in sentencing was well described by Justice Scalia, albeit in a dissenting opinion:

Trial judges could be given the power to determine what factors justify a greater or lesser sentence within the statutorily prescribed limits because that was ancillary to their exercise of the judicial power of pronouncing sentence upon individual defendants.

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