# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

JOHN NOBLE,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

Case No. SC 00-555

# ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO Bureau Chief

JOSEPH A. TRINGALI
Assistant Attorney General
Florida Bar No. 0134924
1655 Palm Beach Lakes Blvd
Suite 300
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(561) 688-7759
Counsel for Respondent

# CERTIFICATE OF TYPE FACE AND FONT

Counsel for the Respondent hereby certifies, pursuant to this Court's Administrative Order of July 13, 1998, that the type used in this brief is Courier 12 point non-proportionally spaced font.

#

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

Because felons are not a protected class, the appropriate standard is rational basis review, not strict scrutiny. United States v. Jester, 139 F.3d 1168, 1171 (7th Cir. 1998); Plyler v. Doe, 457 U.S. 202, 216-17 (1982). A classification subject to rationality review must be upheld against equal protection challenge if there is any reasonable state of facts which could provide a rational basis for the classification. Dandridge v. Williams, 397 U.S. 471, 485 (1970). Moreover, under rational basis review, courts will not invalidate a challenged distinction simply because it is not made with mathematical nicety or because in practice it results in some inequality. Id. This standard is extremely respectful of legislative determinations and means that a court will not invalidate a statute unless it draws distinctions that make no sense. Classifications that make partial sense are

proper. As the Supreme Court stated:

Evils in the same field may be of different dimensions and proportions requiring different remedies.... (R)eform may take one step at a time, addressing itself to the phase of the problem which seems most acute to the legislative mind...

Williamson v. Lee Optical of Oklahoma, Inc., 348 U.S. 483 (1955).

In Florida, recidivist legislation has repeatedly withstood attacks that it denies defendants equal protection of the law. Cross v. <u>State</u>, 119 So. 380 (1928); <u>Reynolds v. Cochran</u>, 138 So.2d 500, 503 (Fla. 1962); O'Donnell v. State, 326 So. 2d 4 (Fla. 1975); Eutsey v. State, 383 So.2d 219 (Fla. 1980). Both in Woods, and in Rollinson, courts have rejected equal protection claims based upon a substantively identical argument addressed to the habitual felony offender statute in Barber v. State, 564 So. 2d 1169 (Fla. 1st DCA), rev. denied, 576 So.2d 284 (Fla. 1990). Here, the PRRPA classification, like the habitual offender classification in Arnold v. State, 566 So.2d 37, 38 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990), is rationally related to the legitimate state interests of punishing recidivists more severely than first time offenders, and of providing protection to the public from repeat criminal offenders. PRRPA, like the habitual offender statute, does not create an arbitrary classification and does not violate constitutional right to equal protection.

In <u>Ross v. State</u>, 601 So.2d 1190 (Fla. 1992), it was argued that the habitual offender statute made irrational distinctions

because an offender who had committed an aggravated assault within the last five years was qualified while an offender who had committed an aggravated battery was not. This Court rejected his argument, stating that aggravated assault was a violent offense, and "that fact that other violent crimes reasonably might have been included in the statute, but were not, does not undermine this conclusion." See State v. Yu, 400 So.2d 762 (Fla. 1981). Similarly, here it is understandable that the legislature put a time limit on qualifying for reoffender status by requiring that the releasee commit one of the enumerated felonies within three years of being released from prison. See State v. Leicht, 402 So.2d 1153 (Fla. 1981).

The PRRPA, like the habitual offender statute, does not violate equal protection. While prosecutors are given discretion to classify as reoffenders only some of those criminals who are eligible, this does not violate equal protection. Mere discretionary application of a statute is permissible; only a contention that persons within the reoffender class are being selected according to some unjustifiable standard, such as race or other arbitrary classification, raises a potentially viable challenge. Petitioner makes no claim that reoffenders are being selected according to some unjustifiable standard, only that there is selective, discretionary application of a statute. Thus, he has failed to raise a viable equal protection challenge.

The classification the statute creates, i.e., recent releasee reffenders, is rationally related to the Legislature's stated objective of protecting the public from violent felony offenders who have previously been incarcerated and who continue to prey on society by reoffending. The classification is rationally related to the legislative findings that the best deterrent to prevent prison releasees from committing future crimes is to require that any releasee be sentenced to the maximum term of incarceration and serve 100 percent of the imposed sentence. The whereas clause of the Act explicitly articulates these goals. The classifications are rational, and the PRRPA does not violate equal protection.

#### ISSUE III

THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT DOES NOT UNLAWFULLY RESTRICT THE PETITIONER'S RIGHT TO PLEA BARGAIN.

Petitioner contends that the PRRPA violates the separation of powers doctrine because it restricts the parties ability to plea bargain. Again the state disagrees.

First, there is no constitutional right to plea bargain.

Fairweather v. State, 505 So.2d 653, 654 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990);

Weatherford v. Bursey, 429 U.S. 545 (1977). To the extent petitioner is attempting to raise the prosecutor's right to plea bargain, petitioner has no standing.

Recently, in <u>Turner</u>, <u>supra</u>, the court held that the Act does

not violate the separation of powers doctrine. "We cannot agree that the Act violates the separation of powers clause by infringing on the ability of prosecutors to engage in plea bargaining." In addition, because the prosecutor does retain some discretion under the Act as to whether to treat a particular defendant as a reoffender, there is no violation. Application of the Act is just another factor subject to negotiation. See also Woods.

Separation of powers principles are intended to preserve the constitutional system of checks and balances built into the government as a safeguard against the encroachment of one branch at the expense of the other. Buckley, supra. A sentencing scheme that involves prosecutorial discretion is not unconstitutional. Oyler, supra. Prosecutors routinely make prosecuting and sentencing decisions that significantly affect the length of time a defendant will spend in jail. Florida courts have addressed separation of powers challenges to mandatory sentencing schemes and prosecutorial discretion claims, and rejected assertions that mandatory sentences are an impermissible legislative usurpation of executive branch powers. Owens, supra; Dorminey, supra; Scott, supra.

Further, courts have held that the trafficking statute, which authorizes a prosecutor to move a sentencing court to reduce or suspend the sentence of a person who provides substantial assistance did not violate Florida's separation of powers clause.

Stone, supra; Barber, supra. Courts have rejected claims that the

prosecutor had "unfettered discretion" as meritless noting that the "type of discretion afforded the prosecutor under this law is constitutionally permissible, for it is no different from that afforded a prosecutor in other areas of the law." <a href="Barber">Barber</a>, supra</a>. The <a href="Stone">Stone</a> court reasoned that Stone had no more cause to complain than he would have had, had the state elected to prosecute him and not prosecute his co-defendant or had elected to prosecute his co-defendant for a lesser offense. These are matters which properly rest within the discretion of the state attorney in performing the duties of his office. Likewise, the power to set penalties is the Legislature's and it may remove a trial court's discretion." Because the Legislature is exercising its own powers here and under the trafficking statute, by definition, a separation of powers violation cannot exist.

While the Act allows prosecutors discretion in seeking reoffender sanctions, this type of discretion is proper when accompanied by legislative standards and guidelines. Allowing other branches some flexibility as long as adequate legislative direction is given to carry out the ultimate policy decision of the Legislature does not violate separation of powers principles. Barber, at 1171. The Legislature stated its intent by providing that if a releasee meets the criteria he should "be punished to the fullest extent of the law." The Legislature also required that the prosecutor write a deviation memorandum explaining the decision to

not seek PRRPA sanctions. §775.082(8)(d)1, Fla. Stat.(1997).

Granting the trial court equal power to initiate PRRPA sanctions and the power to classify defendants as reoffenders instead of prosecutors would create, not solve, a separation of powers problem. In <u>Young v. State</u>, 699 So.2d 624 (Fla. 1997), this Court held that a trial court may not initiate habitual offender proceedings; rather, the determination to seek such a classification is solely a prosecutorial function. By contrast with the separation of powers problem in <u>Young</u>, the PRRPA allows only the prosecutor to determine whether an offender should be sentenced as a reoffender. Therefore, the PRRPA does not violate the separation of powers doctrine.

### ISSUE IV

# THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT DOES NOT VIOLATE THE PROTECTION AGAINST CRUEL AND UNUSUAL PUNISHMENT.

Petitioner contents that the PRRPA violates the federal and state constitutional prohibitions against cruel and unusual punishment. Specifically, he argues that the sentence is disproportionate because the sentences imposed on reoffenders are different than those imposed on other criminals not so classified for commission of the same crime. Petitioner complains that two defendants who commit the same offense are treated differently because one of them had previously been incarcerated, and that two

defendants with the same criminal record are sentenced differently depending on the timing of the last felony. The State respectfully disagrees.

Mandatory, determinate sentencing is simply not cruel or While the nature of the prior offense does not impact whether a person qualifies as a reoffender, the nature of the A defendant must commit one of instant offense does. enumerated violent felonies after being released from prison to qualify. Further, a defendant with the same criminal record is not subject to the same penalty as a reoffender because he did not reoffend as quickly. A releasee who reoffends more quickly is properly subject to more severe sanctions. The legislature may properly view such persons as more dangerous without violating the constitution. Moreover, a Legislature may view a person who has been to prison, but still refuses to reform as more dangerous than one who has never been to prison. Thus, the PRRPA does not violate the cruel and unusual prohibition of either the federal or state constitutions.

The Eighth Amendment should apply only to the method of punishment, such as the death penalty or the hard labor of <u>Weems v. United States</u>, 30 S.Ct. 544 (1910), not the duration of a sentence of incarceration. <u>Rummel</u>, <u>supra</u>. The length of a sentence of imprisonment and whether or not parole is available is a matter for the legislature, not the courts. <u>Harmelin v. Michigan</u>, 111 S.Ct.

2680 (1991); <u>U.S. v. Farmer</u>, at 840; <u>McCullough v. Singletary</u>, 967 F.2d 530 (11th Cir. 1992).

It is well established that any sentence imposed within statutory limits will not violate cruel or unusual provision of the Florida Constitution. McArthur v. State, 351 So.2d 972, 976 (Fla. 1977); O'Donnell, supra. The Florida Legislature, not the courts, determines the sentence for an offense. Further, Florida courts have repeatedly addressed the state's constitutional ban on cruel and unusual punishment as applied to recidivist statutes and mandatory sentencing. In Cross, supra, this Court explained that the Legislature may take away all sentencing discretion and establish a fixed, absolute penalty and has done so in many instances. This Court also pointed out that the concept of proportionality includes the notion that punishment for habitual offenders should be made to fit the criminal as well as the crime, explaining"[s]urely when one by his conduct has indicated that he is a recidivist, there is no reason for saying that society may not protect itself from his future ravages. It is neither cruel nor unusual to say that a habitual criminal shall receive a punishment based upon his established proclivities to commit crime." <u>Hale</u>, at 526.

This Court has also rejected cruel and unusual challenges to mandatory sentencing schemes. In O'Donnell, supra, this Court rejected such a challenge to a mandatory minimum sentence of 30

years imprisonment for kidnaping. O'Donnell argued it violated the constitution because it proscribed the trial judge from making individualizing sentences to make the punishment fit the criminal. This Court stated: "it is within the province of the Legislature to set criminal penalties." See McArthur, supra (life imprisonment with a mandatory minimum of 25 years for capital offenses does not impose cruel and unusual punishment); See also Benitez, supra; Sanchez v. State, 636 So.2d 187 (Fla. 3d DCA 1994).

Petitioner's reliance on <u>Solem v. Helm</u>, 103 S.Ct. 3001 (1983) is misplaced. The viability of <u>Solem</u> in light of <u>Harmelin</u> is doubtful. The plurality opinion in <u>Harmelin</u> stated that <u>Solem</u> was "simply wrong", while the concurring opinion required that the sentence be grossly disproportionate before a violation of the Eighth Amendment could be claimed. Even under the rationale of <u>Solem</u>, however, the PRRPA does not violate the Eighth Amendment. Basically, the Court in <u>Solem</u> held that a life sentence without parole for uttering a \$100.00 bad check under a South Dakota recidivism statute based on six prior nonviolent convictions violates the Eighth Amendment. Where, by contrast, the offense committed is violent, the holding in <u>Solem</u> simply does not apply. <u>Id</u>. at 498; <u>Hale</u>, at 1229 n.1.

Three of the four <u>Solem</u> factors were from the dissent's test in <u>Rummel</u>, <u>supra</u>. In <u>Rummel</u>, the dissent focused both on the nonviolent nature of the offenses and the fact that few states ever

enacted a recidivist statute that called for mandatory life imprisonment for repeat nonviolent offenders and that most of those states had repealed the statutes. Thus, the dissent reasoned the legislatures in those states determined that life imprisonment represented excessive punishment, and said these legislative decisions "lend credence to the view" that a mandatory life sentence is unconstitutionally disproportionate.

They lend credence no longer. State after state has adopted mandatory life without parole for drug trafficking offenses. Ala. Code § 13A-12-231(2)(d); Mich. Comp. Laws Ann. § 333.7403(2)(a)(I); La.Rev.Stat.Ann.Sec. 15:1354. Additionally, the federal recidivist statute now provides for a mandatory life sentence for a third offense. Thus, neither severe mandatory nor recidivist sentencing statutes violate the Federal or Florida Constitutions. No Florida court has ever held that a recidivist statute covering violent offenders violates the prohibition on cruel and unusual punishment or that such violent, repeat offenders may not be sentenced to significant mandatory terms of imprisonment.

Furthermore, the Act does not empower victims to determine sentences. Contrary to petitioner's claim, the victim does not have control over PRRPA sentencing. The prosecutor retains control over whether PRRPA sentencing will be sought. A victim's letter to the prosecutor asking for mercy merely provides a prosecutor with a reason to deviate. Allowing a victim to plead for mercy for a

defendant to either a trial court or a prosecutor is not a separation of powers issue. Williams v. New York, 337 U.S. 241, 250 (1949); Williams v. Oklahoma, 358 U.S. 576, 584 (1959). Therefore, petitioner has failed to make out a violation of either the state or the federal equal protection clause.

### ISSUE V

### THE PRISON RELEASEE REOFFENDER ACT IS NOT UNCONSTITUTIONALLY VAGUE.

Petitioner asserts that the Act is void for vagueness because it invites arbitrary enforcement and fails to define the meaning of the exceptions provisions. The state respectfully disagrees.

First, petitioner lacks standing to raise a vagueness challenge because his conduct fits squarely within the statute's core meaning. Additionally, petitioner had fair warning of the proscribed conduct. The terms of this statute could not be clearer. The statute does not invite arbitrary enforcement. Thus, the Act is not vague. See Young, 719 So.2d 1010.

Petitioner has no standing to complain about the PRRPA as applied to others or to complain of the absence of notice when his own conduct is clearly within the core of proscribed conduct. State v. Hamilton, 388 So.2d 561, 562 (Fla. 1980); Village of Hoffman Estates v. Flipside, Hoffman Estates, 102 S.Ct. 1186 (1982); Trojan Technologies, Inc. v. Com. of Pa., 916 F.2d 903, 915 (3d Cir. 1990).

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